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 Camera flies through bushes and hills until we find ourselves DESCENDING on an African village …the KING’S BEAUTIFUL PALACE stands out. WE PUSH IN… TOWARDS THE PALACE…closer… We see FOUR STERN MEN patrolling the ROOFTOP with guns in their hands. Behind the big house is an AIRFIELD. At the middle of the field is a CHOPPER. SUPERIMPOSED across the SCREEN are the WORDS:  

                                                              Umuochi kingdom, 

                                                             West Africa.
  1.EXT-PALACE---DAY                                                                                                           

Car horns OFF-SCREEN. The Security man, AMADI, {52] opens the gate and bows as a jeep drives in and pulls up. The back seat door by the driver’s side swings open. Nixon, {21} steps out of the car and his eyes wander as he admires the sculptures, handicrafts and structures adorning the palace grounds. In his hand, he holds a novel and swinging on his neck is a NIKKON camera.

                                                   NIXON

                               Wow!

From the ground floor door, 20 maids, dressed alike, hurry out. The ladies fall into a single file while the men in another. Adaeze {18} steps out of the car. The maids bow. Two maids at the beginning of the lines hurry to the car and carry the luggage in the booth. The driver drives off to the garage. Nixon begins to take photographs of the setting

                                                       NIXON

                      
    A beautiful home you have here.

                                                     ADAEZE

                                                {Chuckles}

                           Thanks.

IGWE and LOLO come out. They are gorgeously dressed in African chieftaincy materials and beads, and are happy for their daughter’s return… The maids bow…. Adaeze and her father embrace.

                                                        IGWE

                          Welcome back home, my Pride. How was your trip?

                                                       ADAEZE

                          Great! It’s good to see you again, Dad and Mum. I missed you…

                                                       {Gives DAD a kiss…rushes to MUM…and plants a kiss too.} 

                                                  IGWE/ LOLO                                                              

                        We missed you too!

                                                  LOLO

                          You’ve grown so lean, Angel. Do you eat at all at school?

                                                    ADAEZE

                         Off course, I do, Mum.

                                                LOLO

                         But not our native food.

                                                   ADAEZE

                          Mum, whatever you find here is in the U.S

                          There are lots of African restaurants there.

                          They have our native food.

                           But nobody can measure up with you. 

                           You are the best cook in the world!

                                                LOLO

                                                {So excited. Turns to the maids}

                          Did you hear that?

The maids smile respectfully at her.

                                              LOLO 

                                                    {Gives her hug…}

                       You are a darling!

ADAEZE goes to NIXON, placing her hand on his shoulder…

                                                    ADAEZE

  Mummy and daddy, this is my boy friend, Nixon, 

  whom I promised bringing home this holiday. 

  Nixon is an American. His father used to teach

  at UCLA, but he’s now retired. 

  And has gone back to the countryside. 

  Nixon is a political science student and

  will be graduating this year.

                                                      IGWE

  My son, my family and I welcome you to our country and the kingdom of UMUOCHI 

                                                      NIXON

                          I’m honoured, your highness.

A sound is heard OFF-SCREEN. They all turn towards the gate. Camera reveals EZEMUO, THE SHRINE PRIEST come in, stamping the ‘OJI’ on the ground occassionally. OJI is a metal staff carried by native doctors in Africa. Small metal gongs are tied to this staff, which produce sound when the staff is stamped on the ground. Ezemuo approaches.

                                                     EZEMUO

                                                {Bows to the king.}

                                  Long live your highness!

                                                       IGWE

                                 Ezemuo, the eye of the gods! It is said that a toad does not run in

                                 the afternoon for nothing. Its either it is pursuing something 

                                 or something is pursuing it. To what do I owe this visit?                                                                                                                         

                                                   EZEMUO
                                                 {Points at Nixon.}

                                  He! … He’s evil

Igwe and Lolo frown. Adaeze stares at Ezemuo, fuming with anger

                                                    EZEMUO 

                                  The oracle warns that he should leave 

                                  this village immediately…. otherwise…

                                                    IGWE

                                                 {Cuts in.}

                                     Enough! The oracle couldn’t

 have instructed you to have my daughter’s

 friend ejected from this land. Please leave.

                EZEMUO

                                               {Looks stonily at Nixon, 

                                                 then turns to Igwe.}

                                      A lizard falls from the iroko tree.

                                      He looks right. He looks left,

                                      and congratulates himself for his acrobatic display.

    Your highness, I’m only the mouthpiece of the gods.

                                     I have delivered the message I was asked to…

                                               {Glares at Nixon again,

                                                 then turns to Igwe.}

                                     I leave you in peace, your highness.

Makes for the gate.

                                                     LOLO                                                                        

                                       Arrant nonsense!

                                                  ADAEZE                                                                         

                                      Dad, it’s about time you put a stop 

                                      to this fetish madness. You don’t hear of

  this rubbish   in the U.S or

                                      other developed countries of the world. 

                                      This is the 21st century for God’s sake!

                                                    IGWE

                                               {Calmly.}

                               
 My precious, you just came back.

                                   You and your friend need rest. 

                                    We’ll talk about it later. Ok?

                                               ADAEZE

                                     Ok.

                                                IGWE

                                     Good.

                                              {Claps his hand.}

Eight maids hurry into the house and return carrying the ROYAL STOOL and three BAMBOO CHAIRS. They place the ROYAL STOOL behind Igwe, and the BAMBOO chairs behind the other three.

                                                 IGWE

                                   Make yourself comfortable, my son.

                                                NIXON

                                     Thank you, your highness.

They sit.

The oldest amongst the maids steps forward. Her name is ESI and should be around 55.

                                                 ESI

                              Entertainment for the royal princess!

Pounding of drums is heard. Twelve beautiful girls dance into the arena. Nixon nods his head to the tempo of the drumbeats. He excitedly begins to take pictures.

2 INT- KINGS PALACE---LATER...

A maid is seen walking through a long passage. She is carrying Nixon’s bag. Behind her, Nixon follows. The maid pauses by a door. She inserts a key, opens the door and waves Nixon in. The room is spacious and beautifully furnished.

                                               MAID                                                                                          

                           This is your room, Sir.

                                                   {Drops the bag in the wardrobe}

                           Press this if you want anything.

                                                  {Pointing at a button on the wall.}

                           You are welcome, Sir. 

                                          NIXON 

                           Thank you.

                                                {Maid withdraws, closing the door behind her.

                                                  Nixon’s eyes wander around the room.}

                            Wow!

Knock on the door.

                           Come on right in.

Door opens and ADAEZE comes in.

                                            NIXON

                       Your father really knows how to live as a king.

I used to think Africa is some kind of a slum where people still sling on trees like monkeys 

                                           ADAEZE

                       You thought we live on trees, huh? Naughty boy.

 {Pushes him towards the bathroom, unbuttoning his shirt and kissing his lips hungrily as they go. Nixon flings his shirt and trousers to a corner. They kiss and fondle until they turn into the bathroom. Various shots as they kiss and fondle with each other under the shower.  

Dissolves to:

Nixon and Adaeze in bed making passionate love.

CUT TO

3-EXT- CITY – NIGHT

Establishment shot of a city at night. In the distance…lights are seen from the sky…probably, from a descending airplane, coming towards us… 

SUPER: Accra –Ghana 

CUT TO

4 – AIRPORT- NIGHT

We push in towards the KOTOKA INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT. The airplane lands. The inscription on the body reads “AMERICAN AIRLINES”.   

CUT TO

5-ARRIVAL HALL –NIGHT

ARRIVAL HALL – 

People stands with boards over their heads in the hall as they wait for their friends, families and business associates from the AMERICAN AIRLINE PLANE. Kwesi, 33, glances at his wristwatch. The board over his head reads “CASIDY THOMPSON”

CUT TO

6- TARMAC-NIGHT

Cassidy Thompson {42} descends from the plane with a briefcase in his right hand; he adjusts his tie and matches towards the arrival hall.

CUT TO

ARRIVAL HALL- 

Cassidy Thompson walks in and his eyes scan through the boards. The atmosphere is lively as people embrace, hug and chat with friends, relatives and business associates from the American Airlines plane. Cassidy Thompson spots his name on the board over Kwesi’s head. He walks over to the man with the board.

                                                          CASSIDY 

                                        Chief Samuel Frimpong?

                                                          KWESI 

                                      Are you Mr. Cassidy Thompson?

                                                          CASSIDY

                                      Yeah

                                                          KWESI

                                                               {Offers him a handshake with a broad smile}

                                      You are welcome to Ghana, Sir.

                                                         CASSIDY

                                      Thank you.

                                                              KWESI

                                       I’m from Chief Frimpong. Actually,

                                      Chief is having a meeting… 

                                                                 {Glances at his wristwatch}

                                     right about now with the vice president.

                                     He’s made a hotel reservation for you at the La-Palm Royal Beach.

                                     He will see you tomorrow morning, Sir.

                                                              CASSIDY

                                      That’s all right

                                                              KWESI

                                     Shall we?

He leads the way towards the exit.

7- LA –PALM ROYAL BEACH – DAY

Camera establishes the beautiful LA- PALM ROYAL BEACH HOTEL. A HUMMER and three black coloured ford jeeps drive into the hotel premises and pull up.

The right front door of the hummer jeep swings open and Kwesi hurries out and opens the right back door. Chief Samuel Frimpong, a well-fed man in his late 60’s, wearing Mauri suites and shoes, with a Rolex steps out of the jeep and matches towards the hotel entrance. Three of his guards including kwesi follow him while others stay behind. 

Guard #1 hurries forward, pushes the glass door open and holds it ajar as Chief Frimpong and others go in. He closes door behind him.

8. -PASSAGE- DAY

Chief Frimpong and his men are seen walking along the passage. We wait for them to meet us. They approach and pause by a door. Kwesi steps forward and taps gently on the door.

                                                         CASSIDY ‘S {V.O}

                                     Who is it?

                                                        KWESI

                                                                 {Cheerfully}

                                   Good morning, Mr. Thompson. 

                                   Chief Frimpong is here to see you, Sir.

Doorknob turns. Moments later, door swings open revealing Cassidy on the doorway. His lips form a smile as he stares at the man in front of him.

                                                           CASSIDY

                                      Chief Frimpong?

                                                            CHIEF

                                 Hello, my good friend.

                                                                    {Gives Cassidy a warm hug}

                                It’s so nice to meet you.

                                                           CASSIDY

                               It’s my pleasure, Sir. Please come in.

                                                         CHIEF

                              Thank you.

Chief Frimpong sits and crosses his legs while Kwesi and others stand.

                                                         CHIEF {cont’d}

                               Mr. Thompson, I’m sorry I couldn’t come to

                               the airport to welcome you yesterday night. 

                               I had a dinner meeting with the vice president.

                                                       CASSIDY

                              Your man here told me. 

                              I hope you had a nice time with His Excellency?

                                                      CHIEF

                              Off course I did, Mr. Thompson. 

                              He always wants to be around me.

                              I put him in the position he is today and

                             he always wants to pay homage.

                             He is a good man.

                             I promised him yesterday that

                             I would sponsor his presidential campaign come 2006 

                             as far as he remains a Good man.

                                                                        {Laughs}. …

                                                                 {Cassidy listens with interest}                                                                  

                            Well then …Mr. Thompson, I have to run.

                            I just came to say welcome.

                            I had a call from the external affairs minister on my way here.

                                                         CHIEF {cont’d}

                             I have a meeting with him at nine. 

                                                                {Glances at his wristwatch}

                            I will see you at eleven when I will be taking you to my mining site.

                                                      CASSIDY

                           That would be great, Chief?

Chief Frimpong gets to his feet and offers Cassidy a handshake.

                                                     CHIEF

                               You are highly welcome, Mr. Thompson.

                              You will never regret doing business with us.

                               I will see you at eleven.

                                                  CASSIDY

                              It’s my pleasure, Sir.

Guard #1 opens the door and holds it ajar for Chief Frimpong and others to pass, then closes it behind him and matches after them.

9-GOLD MINING SITE-DAY

Camera explores the gold mining site as Chief Frimpong is seen taking Cassidy around. The miners wear blue overall khaki with helmets on their heads. Miners stop action to say a “GOOD AFTERNOON” as Chief Frimpong passes their way. Chief Frimpong responds by waving nonchalantly at them, as he is busy chatting with his guest.

In various positions, stand over FIFTY SECURITY GUARDS. In their hands, they hold sub-machine guns.

10-GOLD MINING SITE-DAY

Chief Frimpong’s convoy drives out of the site. Four guards at the entrance wave them GOODBYE.

11-INT-HUMMER-DAY

Chief Frimpong and Cassidy are seated in the back.

                                                      CASSIDY

                                                                  {Twists around in his seat to stare back}

                                   A wonderful venture you have down there, Chief Frimpong.

                                                       CHIEF

                                                                 {Laughs}

                                 That was one of my numerous mines.

                                 I have other sites twice as big in Tanzania, 

                                 Angola and the democratic republic of Congo. 

                                                     CASSIDY

                                 I’m impressed, Chief Frimpong.

                                                     CHIEF

                               You are at the right place with the right people Mr. Thompson. 

                               You will never regret doing business with us.

CUT TO 

12 EXT HIGH WAY DAY

The convoy drives onto the highway.

13. EXT-ANCIENT BUILDING---AFRICA---DAY

Adaeze and Nixon are walking hand in hand along the bush path, chatting and laughing. Behind them… a HEAVILY- ARMED STERN GUARD follows quietly. Adaeze points ahead.

                                                                   ADAEZE

                                                   That house over there served as a prison where

                                                   the colonial masters used to imprison

                                                   people hundreds of years ago.          




                                       From this prison, they would take them to

                                                   Europe and America for slavery.

                                                                   NIXON

                                                                           {Shakes his head pitifully}

                                                    Well, thank God the slave era has stopped.

                                                                   ADAEZE

                                                   One thing I kept asking myself 

                                                  whenever I remember the 

                                                   colonial masters is why

                                                  God created those beasts amongst men.

                                                  Have you watched ALEX HARLEY’S Roots?

                                                                NIXON

                                                  Yes.

                                                                  ADAEZE

                                                   What happened in the film

                                                  was exactly what the colonial masters 

                                                 did to our great grandfathers hundreds of years ago.

 Nixon stares into space.

                                                  Infact, the producer of that film was…

                                                                           {Pauses}

                                                  Nixon? What are you staring at?

Nixon points. From his POV, camera reveals an old mud hut in front of which is an imposing sculpture of a PYTHON

                                                              ADAEZE

      Oh that? That’s the statue of the python 

                                                 Worshipped by pagans in this land.

(He begins to take pictures from different angles)

                                                                NIXON

                                                   How funny

 They burst out in laughter)

                                                                  ADAEZE

                 At night when this python usually come out,

                                                  the whole place shines from the sparkling of its diamond.

Nixon becomes thoughtful…    

                                                                                                                                CUT TO.

14 –CHIEF FRIMPONG’S OFFICE   

Chief Frimpong, Cassidy Thompson, Kwesi and another TWO MEN walk into the beautifully furnished spacious office. Chief Frimpong sits behind his desk, while others take their seats. 

                                                                  CHIEF

                                                Ok. Well, Mr. Thompson, once again, 

                                                we want to express our gratitude that 

                                                you have honored our invitation. 

                                               But eventually, you are going to

                                               thank you stars for being on the web.   

                                                                   CASSIDY

                                              Thank you. You give me the right details

                                               and you will be glad you found me.

Man #1 raises the briefcase by his side and places it on his laps. Then begins to press the combinations…   

                                                                  CHIEF

                                                I ask that you fix your eyes on the docs

Man #1 opens the briefcase and takes from it a file, which he passes to man #2,who in turn passes it to Mr. Thompson. Carefully, Mr. Thompson begins to scan through the docs… 

                                                                CHIEF {cont’d}

                                                 Paragraph 3 on those docs states

                                                that we will use our company’s license

                                                to get you form A2 from Bank Of Ghana.

                                                It will cost you $4,200.

                                                                                  {Cassidy nods in 

                                                                                      agreement to Chief’s   

                                                                                                    speech}

                                                                    CHIEF {cont’d}

                                                  Paragraph 4 states that you will pay 12.5% 

                                                  of the total value of the gold you are buying as government vat.

                                                                                        {Cassidy nods}

                                                  Customs, if these bills are not cleared 

                                                  and official docs obtained will not allow your goods 

                                                  out of the KOTOKA INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT.

                                                                                           {Pauses}

                                                  Read paragraph 5 and 7 carefully.

There is a long silence as Mr. Thompson goes through the docs…he closes file and glances up at Chief Frimpong.

                                                                   CASSIDY

                                                    Sounds good to me

                                                                  CHIEF 

                                                                             {Presses a button on the intercom

                                                                                             on his desk and speaks

                                                                                               into the mouthpiece}

                                                  Get the goods.

A door at the far end of the room opens and two men carry a 50kg sack into the hall and set it on the long desk. Another man follows with a scale, which he also set on the desk, near the sack.

                                                                 CHIEF

                                                You want 100kilos of gold dust, Mr. Thompson. 

                                                We gave it to you at the rate of $9,000 per kilo.

                                                That amounts to $900,000 for the 100kg. 

                                                12.5% government vat of the total value will give you $112,500.

Cassidy checks the figures on his computer calculator.

                                                                CHIEF {cont’d}

                                               Form A2 is $4,200.

                                              Shipment is $6,500. 

                                              Plus $3,000 for police escort

                                              and a bullion van that will convey

                                              the consignment to the airport. 

                                              When you put the figures together, you get $1,026,200.

Cassidy is busy on the calculator.

                                                             CHIEF {cont’d}

                                             You will pay to us 50% of the 100kilos 

                                             you’re buying which is $450,000, upfront.

                                            The other half will be paid when the goods 

                                             are delivered to you in your country.

Cassidy still busy on the calculator…

                                                          CHIEF {cont’d}

                                               Government vat, Form A2, shipment, 

                                               police escort and bullion fees is $126,200, 

                                               which you will pay here in full

                                                to enable us make all the necessary arrangements

                                               and get the required docs for

                                               the successful shipment of the consignment.

                                                          CASSIDY

                                                We’ve gone through this over the phone 

                                               and we agreed on the arrangement.

                                                I still haven’t forgotten that, Chief Frimpong.

                                                           CHIEF

                                                Yes, I know. 

                                                But it doesn’t cost us anything going 

                                                through the details over again. 

                                                It’s for our mutual benefits.

                                                You understand me. I understand you. 

                                                And we are in business. Well…ok…let’s get busy…

He takes from the drawer a silver cup and a foil and gets to his feet. He lays the foil on the scale and measures out two cups full of gold dust, which he pours on the foil. The scale weighs 2kg. He wraps the gold dust with the foil and pushes it across the desk to Cassidy.

                                                              CHIEF {cont’d}

                                               Mr. Thompson, as you may know,

                                               Ghana gold is 22 karat plus.

                                              That is 2kilos. 

                                                                        {Pointing at the foil in front of Cassidy}

                                              Take it along with you to your country for a lab test.

                                              If you are satisfied after the test, we have a deal.

With a broad smile, Cassidy stretches out his hand to Chief Frimpong for a handshake.

                                                              CASSIDY

                                           Thank you very much, Chief Frimpong.

                                           I must confess I’m lucky you found me on the web.

                                          You are an interesting person to do business with.

                                           I envy your confidence. 

                                           And you won’t regret coming in contact with me.

                                           I will talk to you soon.

                                                             CHIEF

                                           Okay, then, Mr. Thompson.

                                          Call us or send across a fax.

                                          Let us know what your findings are. 

                                          Good luck.

Cassidy puts the foil into his briefcase and Kwesi leads him out of the office.

Man #3, 4, and 5 exits with the sack and scale through the far end door.

Man #1 and 2 exit through the second door.

Chief Frimpong, now alone in the office, punches a number on his mobile phone, relaxes on his seat, eyes narrowed as he waits for the person at the other end to take the call.

15.EXT-KINGS PALACE--- MOMENTS LATER 

A jeep drives in and pulls up. ADAEZE and NIXON alight. The jeep proceeds to the garage. Adaeze takes Nixon’s hand…hand in hand, they match toward the door…

                                                                 ADAEZE

                                                  How was it?

                                                                 NIXON

                                                  Fun.

                                                                 ADAEZE

                                                 Tomorrow, I’m taking you out again for more sight seeing. 

                                                                 NIXON

                                                 That would be great!

                                                                ADAEZE

                                                  I will take you to ST. MARK’S

                                                                NIXON

                                                 Who is he?

                                                               ADAEZE (smiling)

                                                   It is the oldest church in this land.

                                                   It was built in 1850 by REV FATHER JOHN WINTERCOAT, 

                                                   the British who brought Christianity to this land.

                                                               NIXON

                                                   O yeah?

They approach the door…door swings open, revealing a maid behind it holding it AJAR… Maid bow… They go in… door closes.

                                                                                                                                       CUT TO

16.INT—KINGS PALACE…PASSAGE---DAY                                                                     

Nixon and Adaeze approach a door and pause. Adaeze Pulls Nixon closer and plants a kiss…PUSHES HIM AWAY…Nixon wants some more…

                                                             ADAEZE

                                                   Go away. Naughty boy

                                                           {Slaps him playfully on the cheek and turns to leave.

  




 NIXON taps her on the buttocks.

                                                             SHE opens the door and goes into her room, smiling} 

Nixon, humming the song “ WHO LET THE DOGS OUT” proceeds to the next door, which is the visitor’s room. He opens the door and goes in…  

                                                                                                                                      CUT TO

17.INT-KING’S PALACE—VISITOR’S ROOM---DAY

Nixon comes into the room, goes to the window, pulls aside the curtains and stares thoughtfully into space…from his P.O.V…it is the backyard of the big house…in the distance…ahead…is a bush…probably the bush where the shrine is…WE PUSH IN…towards the bush…

18.EXT-SHRINE---NIGHT

From near the shrine mud hut, light shines from the sparkling of the python’s diamond, causing brightness around the place. Nixon enters shot with a Binoculars swinging on his neck. He looks around. Then quietly tiptoes towards the location of the sparkling. About ten feet to it, a dry branch of a tree falls on the grass and he freezes in fear. After waiting for a while, he regains confidence. He climbs up a tree, raises the Binoculars to his eyes as he scans through the bushes in search of the PYTHON…he shifts the Binoculars to the left… right…finds nothing…then turns around …finds the DIAMOND… His lips forms a smile… 

CUT TO:

At the shrine…

EZEMUO comes out of the hut and pauses, eyes narrowed as he stares suspiciously into space.

19.EXT –VILLAGE ROCKY ROAD ---DAY

 A jeep is seen driving along the road. We follow the progress. The jeep pulls up by a hill that leads to the village river. Adaeze and Nixon alight. Adaeze leads the way down the hill. Nixon follows. The STERN GUARD, who is driving the jeep, steps out and follows them quietly.

20.EXT-RIVER---DAY                                                                                                              

Adaeze and Nixon arrive at the river. The STERN GUARD stands at the hill. From where he is, he sees everything that goes on at the riverbank, most importantly, around the PRINCESS. In the distance… we see six villagers on a canoe sailing away. Apart from the PRINCESS, NIXON and the BODYGUARD, there is no other soul at the river.

                                                                ADAEZE

                                                They are going to the next village. 

Going to Lagos is a quiet a journey from this place.

 You will have to trek for 5 hours to the nearby village 

where you can get a bus. So what our people do is sail to

the next village where there is                                          

                                                a railway station to take a train to Lagos.

 



It is quiet cheaper. And the stress is minimal. 

The buses travel only Wednesdays but the train travels Monday, 

Wednesday and Fridays. 

Nixon nods lightly as he stares thoughtfully after the sailors. He lowers his CAMERA and starts to take pix of the sailors.

                                                                 NIXON

                                               I’ve never traveled by train before. 

Clicks…

                                                                ADAEZE

                                                                                {As she walks further towards the river.}

                                                It is fun.

                                                                  NIXON

                                               So I hear. One of these days I will take a ride.

Adaeze turns to the GURD as she starts to undress.                                                              

Their eyes meet. GUARD looks away. She finishes undressing…naked as she was born; she poses for a CAM shot…

                                                                  ADAEZE

                                           Nixon

Nixon turns

                                                                   NIXON

                                          Wow…you look wonderful, baby.

                                          Spread that filthy legs apart a little bit…

                                                                              {Adaeze pretends to be

                                                                                    spreading her legs apart}

                                          Yeah…1…2…

As he is setting the CAM to CLICK … 

                                                                  ADAEZE

                                                                                   {Breaks into a run towards the river}

                                            Naughty boy!

                                                                   NIXON

                                           Come back here!

                                                                                  {Drops the CAM and runs after her}

                                            I’m gona take pix of that monkey ass of yours.

                                                                   ADAEZE

                                             Go away! Naughty boy.

She dives into the river.

With his clothes and shoes, Nixon dives into the river too in chase of Adaeze. He catches up with her…moments later… They begin to kiss each other passionately.

High on the hill, stands the BODYGUARD.

21 EXT-AIRPORT – NIGHT

KOTOKA INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT establishing. 

Chief Frimpong’s convoy drives out of the airport premises.

CUT TO

22 INT HUMMER – NIGHT

Chief Frimpong and Cassidy are seated in the back seat.

                                                            CHIEF

                                     The 2 kilos I gave to you are worth $24.000 in the world market.

                                      I was thinking you would never come back, Mr. Thompson. 

                                     We’ve had terrible experiences in the past.

                                                            CASSIDY

                                    Why did you make the same mistake over again with me? 

                                                             CHIEF

                                    What can we do, my friend? Business is risk, you know?

                                                             CASSIDY

                                    You are a businessman, Chief Frimpong. I envy your confidence.

                                                             CHIEF

                                     Thank you.

CUT TO

23 EXT – MOTORWAY – NIGHT

The convoy drives onto the motorway.

CUT TO

23 INT – FRIMPONG’S OFFICE – DAY

Chief Frimpong, Cassidy, Kwesi, MAN #1 and 2 are all seated in the office. On top of the desk in front of Cassidy lay a briefcase. Cassidy opens the briefcase to reveal neatly arranged bundles of dollar notes, and then pushes the briefcase across the desk to Chief Frimpong.

                                                            CASSIDY

                                    That is $576,200. The 50% upfront, 

                                    with government vat e.t.c inclusive. 

                                    The balance shall be paid as soon as I receive the consignment.

                                                            CHIEF

                                    I’m glad we are finally getting down to business, Mr. Thompson. 

                                                                        [Closes the briefcase and puts it behind his desk, 

                                                                           then turns to man #1}

                                    Put a call across the police headquarters. 

                                  Tell them we will need a police escort

                                  and bullion van any moment from next week. 

                                  Their money shall be sent to them before noon tomorrow.

Exit MAN #1.

                                                                 CHIEF {cont’d}

                                                                                           {Turns to MAN #2.}

                                      Take Mr. Thompson to the financial secretary’s 

                                     office for the issuance of his part payment receipt.

Exit MAN #2 and Cassidy

Chief Frimpong takes from his drawer a Cigar. He taps it gently on his palm, then lights it. Exhales smoke. 

Silence.

                                                               CHIEF

                                                                                               {To Kwesi}

                                     What do you think?

                                                               KWESI

                                     Progress

Chief Frimpong’s lips form a smile. He relaxes in his seat, and then closes his eyes. Again he exhales smoke.

24 INT PASSAGE / VAULT

Chief Frimpong, Cassidy and Kwesi are seen walking along a passage. Chief Frimpong pauses by two steel doors. Others follow suit. He punches a number on his Cell phone, raises the phone to his ear and speaks…

                                                               CHIEF

                                       G unit. Open the vault.

Automatically, the steel doors swing open. In the vault, we see over 500 gold bars filed at one side of steel counters. At the opposite counter lay seven 50kg sacks of gold dust. On the floor are 4 metallic boxes on which we see a hand-painted sign; 

CASSIDY THOMPSON – USA.

                                                                CHIEF

                                  As you can see, Mr. Thompson, 

                                 your goods are ready for shipment. 

                                 One of these boxes contains 23kilos of gold dust, 

                                 while the rest three contain 25 kilos each. 

                                 We deducted the 2kilos we gave to you on your first visit. 

                                We’ve made every necessary arrangement, 

                                and would ship the goods as soon as the necessary docs are obtained. 

                                Processing of some of these docs might take a little time,

                                but we want to assure you that you 

                               will get your goods before the end next week.

                                                              CASSIDY

                                  Thank you very much, Chief Frimpong. 

                                  I’m most happy coming in contact with you. 

                                 You are a wonderful man, 

                                and I look forward to doing more businesses with you.

                                I will call you from time to time to know when you send the consignment.

                                                             CHIEF

                                You are at the right place with the right people, Mr. Thompson.

                                Our numerous customers never regret doing business with us,

                                so you won’t either.

                                I will let you know when the consignment leaves.

They embrace.

                                                            CHIEF

                                So long, my good friend.

                                                         CASSIDY

                                So long, Chief Frimpong

Kwesi leads Cassidy away.

Chief Frimpong watch them go, then takes from his suite pocket a Cigar. He taps it gently on his palm, then lights it and stares vacantly into space as he exhales smoke. Automatically, the steel doors behind him close.

CUT TO

25-EXT-SHRINE---NIGHT.

Camera establishes the shrine. Light shines from the sparkling of the diamond. Nixon enters shot carrying a mortar. He tiptoes towards the location of the diamond.

At the shrine…

Ezemuo comes out of the hut and pauses. Eyes narrowed as he again stares suspiciously into space, nodding lightly.

CUT TO:

At the location of the diamond…

On getting to the sparkles, Nixon covers the diamond with the mortar and the place becomes dark. He hastily runs to a tree, climbs to the top of it, and stays quietly as his eyes wander round the bush. There is no sign of the PYTHON. There is no horrifying noise. The whole place is calm and as quiet as the graveyard.

CUT TO

26.EXT/INT- KINGS PALACE---EARLY MORNING.

The weather is faintly bright. Nixon descends from the fence and creeps quietly to THE SEWAGE pipe, making sure the FOUR GUARDS who patrol the rooftop do not notice him. He climbs up the SEWAGE pipe and onto a window at the first floor and peeps in. From his POV, Adaeze is seen sleeping. He pulls open the ALUMINIUM sliding window and climbs into the visitor’s room.

CUT TO

27.INT – CHIEF FRIMPONG’S OFFICE – EVENING

Chief Frimpong sits comfortably behind his desk. A cigar is burning in between his right fingers, a phone to his left ear.

                                                                CHIEF

                                       Mr. Thompson, we have everything organized now,

                                       but we are not convenient with the initial agreement

                                       of sending the goods and getting our money 

                                      after the goods are delivered to you. 

                                     We’ve had lots of terrible experiences in the past. 

                                     And for this reason, the management 

                                     has decided that we invite you in to claim your consignment,

                                     as we do not wish to run any more risks. 

                                     We are for the inconveniences this might cost you.

                                                                               {Touches off his cigar ash}

                                                           CASSIDY OVER PHONE

                                  I must be frank with you, Chief Frimpong.

                                  I am not happy with this development.

                                  I have no bad intensions against you or your company.

                                  But hey, anyone is entitled to his or her opinion. 

                                  You will get to know me better, Chief Frimpong. 

                                   Send to me a cable visa as usual. 

                                                           CHIEF

                                 Thank you very much for your understanding, my good friend.

                                  May God guide and protect you as you come.

                                                                       {Exhales smoke as he closes his eyes}

CUT TO

28. INT/EXT-KINGS PALACE---MORNING.

Igwe, Lolo, Adaeze and Nixon are all seated in the dining room having their breakfast. The sound of the OJI is heard. The sound comes closer. A sudden expression of fear jump into Nixon’s face.

LOLO

                                         That must be the shrine priest.

                                                           ADAEZE

                                         What does he want again?

Igwe gets to his feet and makes for the door, looking stern. Lolo and Adaeze follow while Nixon sits back looking from side to side in confusion. He goes to the window and stare out. 

CUT TO EXT

Igwe, Lolo and Adaeze come out, their eyes on Ezemuo who is seen from their POV entering the palace.

At the window…                                                                                                                            

Nixon sees Ezemuo come in and withdraws from the window.

At the visitors room…

Nixon hurries in and picks his bag and storms out. Camera reveals his novel lying on a table.

At the kitchen…

Nixon picks a butcher knife and makes for the exit.

Cut to ext…

Ezemuo approaches.

                                                              EZEMUO

                                                                       {Bow}

                                            Long live, your highness!

                                                            IGWE

                                                                   {Sternly.}

                                            What do you want?

                                                            EZEMUO (fiercely)

                                            I want to speak with your guest.

Simultaneously the ground floor door jerks open as Nixon steps out with his bag hung on his shoulder and knife in hand. He throws his arm around Adaeze’s neck with the sharp edge of the knife to her throat.

Igwe and Lolo stare at Nixon in disbelief shock

                                                              IGWE

                                            What’s the meaning of this?

                                                              NIXON

                                             Shut the fuck up, son-of-a-bitch!

                                                               LOLO

                                                                          {Shocked.}

                                               Nixon!

On hearing Lolo’s voice, the maids rush out, see the situation and freeze in shock.

CUT TO:

At the rooftop…                                                                                                                                                                             

The four guards lay at the edge of the rooftop with their sub-machine guns pointing downwards at Adaeze as Nixon shields himself with her body, his arm round her neck and the sharp edge of the knife to her throat.

                                                               NIXON

                                                                             {Coldly.}

                                                   Tell them to throw down their guns. Now!

He presses the sharp edge of the knife to Adaeze’s throat, as she screams in pain…

                                                                IGWE

                                                                          {To the guards.}

                                                      Drop your guns!

The guards throw down their guns. Nixon releases Adaeze and picks up a gun. Adaeze runs to her mother and starts to cry. Her mother consoles her.  Eyes alert, finger on trigger, Nixon removes the bullets in the other three guns, put the bullets into his bag and turns to Igwe.

                                                              NIXON

                                                   I need the key to the jeep.

                                                              IGWE

                                                                      {Turns to the maids.}

                                                   Get the key

Exit a maid.

                                                               NIXON

                                                                      {To the guards.}

                                                  I advise you stay the way you are. 

  If I find any of you missing, 

I will arrive at the final conclusion

  that you are playing games.

  And the king will hold you

   responsible for what happens

   to his daughter.

                                                               EZEMUO

                                                                                  (All the while observing the proceedings 

                                                                                         nonchalantly)

Young man, I am here to see you.

                                                                NIXON

                                                                           {Turns quietly}

                                                  See me? Sorry, I don’t remember 

                                      having an appointment with you.

                                                                 EZEMUO                                                                                                       

                                                  I was sent to tell you that not all that glitters is gold.

                                                 Our gods are fierce and deal in retributive justice,

                                                 yet large hearted,

                                                 otherwise, they would have struck you dead by now.

                                                 Go back and return what you stole from the shrine.

                                                 However, if you fail before the fall of the new moon, 

                                                  you shall die. The gods have spoken!

                                                                  NIXON

                                                                       {Glares at him.}

                                                  Damn you. And damn the gods!

The maid returns with the car key.

                                                               NIXON

                                                                     {To Adaeze.}

                                                   Get the key

Adaeze collects the car key from the maid.

                                                                NIXON

                    You are taking me out of this disgusting village of yours. 

                                                                  {Turns to Igwe}

                    If anything goes wrong, you will cease to have a daughter.

                                                                    {To Adaeze.}

                                            Move it!

Adaeze moves quietly to the jeep and gets behind the steering wheels while Nixon sits at the back seat, behind her.

CUT TO:

At the rooftop…

The guards watch the situation helplessly.

At the gate…

Adaeze pulls up. Nixon sticks out his head from the car window with the NOZZLE of the gun leveled at the security.

                                                                NIXON

                                              Open the goddamn gate!

The security opens the gate and they drive off.

Ezemuo stares after the disappearing jeep                                                                          

                                                               EZEMUO

He has stolen the diamond of the gods. 

                                               If the diamond is not returned

                                               before the fall of the new moon,

                                               Princess will be used to cleanse the land.

                                              This is a message… from the gods!

Makes for the gate.

There is an expression of intense fear on Lolo’s face. Igwe turns quietly to the men at the rooftop, and then nods lightly… the men withdraw …

29.EXT-ROCKY VILLAGE ROAD---DAY

The jeep is seen driving along the village rocky road.

30. INT- JEEP---DAY.

Nixon turns in his seat to watch behind, sweaty. There is no soul on sight.

                                                       NIXON

                                        You’ve got 240km on your speedometer. I don’t buy this delay tactics.

                                                                {Glances back again.}

                                                        ADAEZE

                                                                {Sobbing.}

                                         Why are you doing this, Nixon? 

                                         I thought we were in love and had a bright future ahead.

                                                       NIXON

                                                                {Coldly}

          


  Shut up! Step your goddamn foot

 


  on the goddamn throttle and move this goddamn car! 

                                      Who needs love from an uncouth village Princess

                                      when I can get the Princess of Monaco with this …

                                                             {Showing the DIAMOND}. 

                                       Just keep quite and drive me out of this hellhole. 

                                      God damn it!

                                                        ADAEZE

                                       So this is it. Mere Diamond. 

                                       You prefer it to me, Nixon? I never liked that thing one bit.

                                       But the Bible says that we should give to God

                                       what is His, and to Caesar, what belongs to him.

                                       You’ve brought calamity upon yourself by stealing from the gods!

                                       I will suggest you return the Diamond, Nixon. It’s never late.

                                                     NIXON

                                                                  {Sternly}

                                       Fuck your suggestion.

                                       Fuck your gods.

                                       Fuck Caesar.

                                       Fuck you! Step your filthy feet on the filthy throttle, fucker.  

Raising the nozzle of the gun to her head.

                                                      ADAEZE

                                      Ok…ok. (Crying profusely)

Applies the gear, and the car speed increases.

Nixon turns in his seat again to watch behind. The road is calm and lonely. He stares thoughtfully into space, smirking his lips in mock joy

31. ROAD/RIVER---DAY

Adaeze gets to the hill that leads to the village river and Nixon orders her to stop.

                                                        NIXON

                                    Pull over!

Adaeze, still sobbing, steps on the break. Nixon reaches out for the ignition and turns it off.

                                                       NIXON

                                   Holy shit! Put a little smile on that face. 

                                   You look like a piece of shit.

                                                                      {Adaeze stops crying.

                                                                         Dusts her tears with the edge of her dress. }

                                    Better. You are taking me to the railway station. 

                                     I want to take a long ride. Common.

                                     I haven’t got all the time in the world.

Adaeze steps quietly out of the car. Nixon puts the gun into his bag and takes from the bag the butcher’s knife. He twists around in his seat to peer through the back windscreen. There is no soul on sight. He turns around and peers through the front windscreen. Everywhere is calm and deserted. He steps out of the car and follows Adaeze down the river hill…

CUT TO:

32 EXT BUSH  – DAY

Somewhere in the bush, running feet of horses are head. Silence. Then comes the neighing of a horse…then comes rustle of leaves…moments later, 3 bodyguards creep out of the bushes far behind, with guns in their hands. 

33 EXT HILL/RIVER-DAY

Voices are heard offshot as Nixon and Adaeze climb down the hill, towards the river. The voices are coming from the river. Nixon takes Adaeze’s hand. He says something to her and bursts out in laughter. Adaeze fakes a smile. They approach the river. The three canoe peddlers there bow to Adaeze. She speaks to one of them for a while. The peddler leads them to his canoe. They board it and sail away.

34 EXT RIVER –DAY

Adaeze sits next to Nixon. The canoe peddler sits at the extreme edge of the canoe as he peddles deeper and deeper into the river.

35 EXT RIVER – DAY

Far behind, from a bend, a canoe sails into view. At the edge of the canoe sits the peddler, while the bodyguards are on their feet at the middle of the long wood. The guard at the front row points…

Ahead. The canoe that carries Nixon and Adaeze is seen. Nixon twists around in his seat to watch behind…

The bodyguards dock, and are shielded by overgrown grasses. The atmosphere is disturbed only by the noises of river birds and water crickets.

Nixon turns around again and faces his front…

The bodyguards raise their heads. Their guns corked and ready…

36 KING’S PALACE- DAY

…Now, the atmosphere is tensed. The servants stand in fear as they look on. The King paces up and down. Lolo is seated and is sobbing softly.

At a corner stands a bodyguard. Fat. Tall. Will pass a Chef than a bodyguard. He’s wearing a long jacket with his hands fold on his protruding tommy. His name is AWA. Should be 33.

                                                                 IGWE

                                                                                 {To Awa}

                                                  Put a call across to them. 

                                                  Let me know what the situation is.

Awa starts to dial a number on his cell phone.

37 RIVERBANK-DAY

The canoe that is carrying Nixon and Adaeze arrives at the riverbank. Nixon gives some money to the peddler and wave him goodbye. The peddler with a broad innocent grin, waves back at Nixon, then bows to Adaeze. Adaeze waves nonchalantly at him as he sails away.

                                                                  NIXON

                                                 So, how long does it take to get to the railway station? 

                                                                 ADAEZE

                                                15 to 20 minutes.

                                                                 NIXON

                                                Is it possible that I might miss the train?

                                                                   ADAEZE

                                             It leaves at 1.30

Nixon glances at his wristwatch. His lips form a smile.

                                                                   NIXON

                                           Right on time. Common. Get going.

Grabs her wrist as they match towards the river bush path. Suddenly, a phone starts ringing. Nixon pauses and stares suspiciously at Adaeze.

                                                                    NIXON

                                          Take your call

                                                                   ADAEZE

                                          I’m not with a phone.

Nixon searches her and finds no cell phone on her. Alarmed. He pulls out a gun, grabs her by the neck, shielding himself with her body. Quietly, he raises the gun and points it towards the river. A fearful stillness reigns…

CUT TO

38 RIVER –DAY

The bodyguard at the front row of the canoe is on the phone. He switches off and speaks briefly to his colleagues, then straightens up. He couldn’t see ahead of him because of the overgrown grasses.

The peddler that carried Nixon and Adaeze peddles into view. We will address this man as peddler #1…

The peddler that carries the bodyguards should be known as peddler #2…

Peddler #2 levels up with peddler #1. The bodyguard at the front row speaks briefly with peddler #1. He points towards the direction of the riverbank and continues on his way…

CUT TO

RIVERBANK:

Same as in scene 37

Eyes alert, finger firm on trigger, Nixon waits for the bodyguard’s arrival…

From a bend, the canoe emerges…

                                             ADAEZE

                                                                       {Screaming}

                                          Run! 

It is too late as Nixon fires indiscriminately at the bodyguards.

CUT TO

39 RIVER –DAY

Peddler #1 jerks frightfully at the sound of the gunshots.

RIVERBANK--

The three bodyguards drop into the river dead. Peddler #2 jumps off his canoe, into the river and breaks into a run. Nixon aims at his unprotected back and fires a shot. He drops dead.

                                                     ADAEZE

                                                                     {Shaking in fear}

                                   What have you done? You’ve just killed them.

{Nixon gives her a heavy slap}

                                                    NIXON

                                                                        {Coldly}

                                   Get moving! 

Adaeze’s fears intensified. She shakes in fear as she leads Nixon away through the bush path. 

From a bend, peddler #1 peddles into shot. He stretches out his neck to see what has happened. He couldn’t see anything because of the overgrown grasses. Curiosity and tension mounted. He comes closer towards us, again stretches out his neck. On the surface of the water, he sees the bodies of the guards and of peddler #1 floating. His fears intensified. He shifts his gaze from one corpse to the other. Grave silence. Suddenly, phone starts ringing. He jerks frightfully to the direction the sound is coming from. 

CUT TO

40 KING’S PALACE-DAY

The king is still pacing up and down. The atmosphere still tensed.

Awa, the bodyguard has the cell phone to his ear.

                                             AWA

                             It’s ringing, Your Highness.

The king stretches out his hand and AWA hands him the cell phone. 

CUT TO

RIVERBANK

Inside peddler # 2’s canoe is the bodyguard’s cell phone. 

Quietly, peddler #1 peddles himself to peddler #2’s canoe.

He observes the phone for a while, then picks it up…

CUT TO

KING’S PALACE

The king raises the phone to his ear…

                                                           IGWE

                                     Amayo, you said you would conclude in 10 minutes. 

                                     Your 10 minutes is turning into a nightmare 

                                     and I’m not convenient with it. 

                                     You know I don’t tolerate incompetence. 

                                     Now, tell me exactly what the situation is. 

Silence. The servants, including Lolo look on in curiosity and tension on their faces.

                                                     IGWE {cont’d}

                                                                      {Almost shouting}

                                      What? Who is this?

Pauses to listen. Then switches off and turns to LOLO.

                                                   IGWE {cont’d}

                                                                        {Enraged}

                                    The guards are dead.

                                    Bunch of good for nothings!

                                    Just one-man…only one man killed them.

                                                    LOLO

                                    Oh, my God. My daughter. 

                                    What about my daughter?

The king turns to AWA.

                                                     IGWE

                                                                  {Sternly}

                                  Get the Chopper. Go to the railway station. 

                                  Make sure no harm comes to my daughter.

                                  I want that bastard brought here to me, alive!

CUT TO

41 SKY – DAY

The Chopper flies through bushes and hills. 

Several shots as we follow the progress.

42 SKY / RAILWAY

Awa glances through the Chopper window. Down below is a railway line. In the distance ahead is a railway station. People are seen boarding the train. The Chopper lands metres away, behind the train. Awa steps out of the Chopper, brings out some chocolate from his jack pocket, as he watches the activities at the railway station, lamenting…

                                                          AWA

                                    Go get him. Don’t let him escape. 

                                   As if I’m not human.

                                  Three people went and they never came back.

                                  The guards are dead. The bastard killed them. 

                                  Then she said; 

                                                               {Imitating Lolo}

                                   My daughter. What about my daughter?

          As if the people he said that died 

          were illegal creatures, picked from the gutters.

                                                                    {Pauses to take a bite at the chocolate, 

                                                                        eyes fixed on the activities

                                                                                at the railway station}

                                  Make sure no harm comes to my daughter.

                                  Foolish man and foolish woman. 

                                 Who do they think they are? Selfish people.

                                 I should throw wage with my life because I’m a bodyguard.

                                 Princess my foot!

He brings out a canned juice from his jack pocket, then goes to a nearby rock and sits down, eyes still fixed on the activities at the railway station, as he opens the can…

                                                          AWA {Cont’d}

                                                                           {Takes a bite at the chocolate, 

                                                                               then takes a drink of can juice}

                                   She went and imported an American boyfriend,

                                  while I am here vacant and available.

                                  When she sees me, she pretends as if I was not there. 

                                  Swine!

Silence.

The deafening horn of the train starts blaring as the train warms up to leave.

Awa looks on with keen interest, eating and waiting…

The train starts to move. The on lookers wave “GOODBYE” to the occupants of the train. They wave back. The train picks up speed. Horn blaring…

Awa takes a drink of the last content of the can and throws the can away. Getting to his feet, he pulls out a gun, quietly; he matches towards the railway station, as he throws the last of the chocolate into his mouth…

43 RAILWAY STATION- DAY

Adaeze is spotted in the crowd, tears running down her cheek as she stares after the disappearing train. Awa pushes his way through the chattering crowd, towards her. Approaches.

                                                        AWA

                                    My Princess, are you all right?

Without turning, she nods, eyes on the train.

Gun in hand, Awa pushes his way ahead, through the crowd, and then runs after the train. He pauses midway as the train disappears into the woods.

                                                     AWA

                                                                     {Furious with himself}

                                  Shit!

CUT TO

44 EXT –AIRPORT – NIGHT

Chief Frimpong’s convoy drives out of the airport, diverts left, and onto the motorway.

45 INT HUMMER – NIGHT

Chief Frimpong and Cassidy are seated in the back seat.

                                                         CASSIDY

                            You gave me 2kilos of gold dust, 

                            which is worth $24,000 in the world market.

                           You thought I would abscond with it. But I did not.

                            I have no such bad intensions.

                           I so much believe in continuity. 

                           Besides, good name is better than money.

                                                   CHIEF

                           You know what your intensions are, Mr. Thompson. We do not. 

                          And we don’t propose taking chances. 

                          Did you come with the balance of my money? 

                                                                             {Cassidy nods}.

                          Good.

Silence.

46 EXT –ROAD – NIGHT

The convoy diverts onto a deserted road. At both sides of the road are bushes.

47 INT HUMMER NIGHT

Cassidy glances at his wristwatch, and then stares out through the window. Surprise.

                                                 CASSIDY

                               Bushes?

                                                                      {Turns to Chief Frimpong}

                              Where are we going? 

                              It was supposed to be a 20 minutes 

                             drive from the airport to the hotel. 

                             We’ve been driving for the past 30 minutes. 

                             And I can’t remember passing through this jungle.

Chief Frimpong presses a button on the intercom by his side and speaks into the mouthpiece.

                                            CHIEF

                            Pull over!

CUT TO 

48 EXT ROAD NIGHT


The convoy pulls up by the bush.

CUT TO

49 INT HUMMER NIGHT

                                              CHIEF

                            Mr. Thompson, it’s very important 

                           we get this issue straightened out once and for all. 

                           To start with, Chief Samuel Frimpong is a pen name.

                                                                   {Pauses to light a cigar}

                           I am a fraudster.

Cassidy shifts in his seat.

                                            CHIEF {cont’d}

                         I have no mining sites.

                        The mining site I took you to do not belong to me.

                        It was arranged.

                        All that waving of hands from the miners was trash.

                       That was my money talking. 

                                                                    {Exhales smoke}

                       The so-called “GOLD” you saw in the vault 

                       was mere brass coated in golden colour.

                       The only genuine thing in this whole set up 

                       was the 2kg of gold dust I gave to you. 

                       The idea was to win your confidence and 

                        trust which I succeeded in achieving. 

                       Sometimes, I loose at this point. 

                     Some people will go with the stuff, 

                     and will never come back. Business is risk, remember?

                                                            {Pauses again to touch off his cigar ash}

Cassidy starts to sweat as he stares frightfully at this criminal that sits beside him.

                                               CHIEF {cont’d}

                     I run this town, Mr. Thompson. 

                    The entire armed forces are on my pay roll.

                    The president of this country was my classmate,

                    and a very good friend of mine so is the vice president.

                     Most importantly, I have an organization. 

                     I want you, Mr. Thompson to leave this country.

                    If you are spotted anywhere around this town within the next 24hrs,

                    my organization will kill you. Do I make myself clear?

Cassidy nods, using the back of his right hand to wipe off the sweat in his face.

                                           CHIEF {cont’d}

                   Where is the money?

Cassidy hands over his briefcase.

                                         CHIEF {cont’d}

                 What is the combination?

                                        CASSIDY

                431

Again, wipes his sweaty face with the back of his right hand.

Chief Frimpong opens the case to reveal bundles of dollar notes. He closes the case and keeps it by his side.

                                          CHIEF 

                    My organization is keeping an eye on you, Mr. Thompson. 

                   Any false move, you’re dead. 

                   You better watch your back. Get out!

Cassidy steps out of the car.

50 EXT BUSH ROAD NIGHT

The convoy reverses and speeds away.

Cassidy glances left, then right. The whole place is in darkness. He matches after the disappearing convoy.

CUT TO

51 EXT BUSH ROAD NIGHT

Cassidy is seen walking down the deserted bush road. He takes his international passport and flight ticket out from his inner suite pocket and puts them in his trousers pocket, then takes off his suite and hangs it on his shoulder as he adjusts his tie, unbuttons his shirt to enable him take fresh air as he matches down to town in the darkness.

Several shots of Cassidy matching down the deserted road. Sweat runs his face and soaks his shirt. He dabs the sweat on his face with his suite. The atmosphere is as quiet as the graveyard. Then the sound of an approaching car breaks the silence. The headlights of the car pierce the darkness.

Cassidy glances over his shoulder as the headlamps of the car come in view. He stands in the way of the approaching car and holds his hand up for the car to stop. The car approaches and stops. The “OCCUPANT” of the car, a man, should be around 52 sticks out his head from the window. Cassidy goes to him.

                                                           MAN

                                    Hello!

                                                         CASSIDY 

                                                                                 {Exhausted}

                                    Hi

                                                         MAN

                                  What are you doing out here

                                 all alone at this time of the night? 

                                 You could get harmed, you know? 

                                Where are you coming from?

                                                       CASSIDY

                                                                              {Begins to sob}

                                 Could you please drop me off 

                                 where I can pick up a cab to the airport?

                                 Oh my God. I’ve got no bucks to pay for a cab.

                                 Can you believe that? 

                                The CEO of Thompson jewelries, Inc 

                                 got no bucks to pay a taxi fare. 

                                That is crazy! They took away all my monies,

                                my luggage, everything I have ever owned. 

                                You know what buddy;

                                I took a loan from the bank with my house as collateral.

                                If I don’t pay up my debt, I will be thrown out in the streets.

                              Oh my God. What have I done?

He sits on the ground and starts to cry.

Man steps out of the car to console Cassidy 

                                              MAN

                              Stop crying and tell me what the problem is.

                             Maybe I can be of help. 

                            Who took away your money?

Cassidy wipes out the tears in his eyes and glances up at man.

                                            CASSIDY 

                             Can I ask you for a favour?

                                            MAN

                            What?

                                          CASSIDY

                          The American airlines plane is departing at 11 tonight. 

                          I have their return ticket. Can you drop me off at the airport?

                                          MAN

                         Come on. Hop in.

They climb into the car.

                                         MAN {cont’d}

                        Who did you say that took away your money and property?

                                        CASSIDY

                        Never mind.

Buttons up his shirt, re-arranges his tie and puts on his suite as the car pulls away.

CUT TO

52 EXT CITY – DAY

Helicopter shot of a city skyline.

SUPER: Los Angeles USA.

53 EXT CASSIDY’S HOUSE DAY

It’s morning at “21st street”. Neighbours have gone to work, except for Cassidy and his beautiful, Carol. Carol {32} storms out of the house clutching along two heavy bags. She gets to her car and carries the bags into the booth. She disappears into the house. Cassidy’s voice is heard from inside.

                                                      CASSIDY’S V.O

                             Carol, is this how you want to leave me?

                            At this darkest moment in my life? 

                           Are you sure you are doing the right thing? 

                          Things will get better, Carol. Please don’t go.

                                                    CAROL’S V.O

                             It’s over between us, Cassidy. 

                             I can’t stand it. Can’t you see?

She storms out again, clutching along another bag towards the car.

CUT

A young man appears at the first floor window. He is Cassidy’s cook. His name is Tony and should be around 26. He is not happy with the situation but watches helplessly from his position.

CUT

Cassidy appears at the doorway, tears rolling down his cheek as he watches his wife put the bag in the booth, enters the car and drives away.

                                               NIXON

                                                                  {Under his breath}

                                     Please come back, Carol. Come back!

54 INT CASSIDY’S RES. LATER

In a sorrowful mood, Cassidy sits in the hall, legs crossed, staring at nothing. In front of him, a door opens and Tony comes in. he waves him to a seat. 

                                          CASSIDY

                                                                 {Exhales}

                        Tony, my wife left me this morning

                        because I am no longer the Cassidy that I used to be. 

                        She is filing a divorce. We married for a better for worse, 

                        yet she is divorcing me and God is sitting up there keeping quiet. 

                                                                   {Sighs}

                       Do I really blame her? 

                       Nobody will like to associate him or herself with failure. 

                       I’ve lost all my wealth, including this whole house to fraudsters. 

                       I took a loan from the bank with this house

                       standing a collateral to facilitate a business transaction in Africa. 

                       That business transaction happens to a be a scam. 

                                                                    [Coughing}

                                           TONY

                     Sorry, sir.

                                          CASSIDY {cont’d}

                     Now, the bank is taking over this house in few weeks, 

                     as I cannot pay up my debt.

                                                                    {Pauses} 

                    Tony, I want you to go. Get yourself another job.

                   With my situation, I can’t afford your salary any more.

                                                                    {Sobs}

                                           TONY

                                                                    {Calmly}

                      I understand. It’s a pity you’re going through all these. 

                      I wish I could help.

                                                                    {Silence}

                     My mother is very sick. 

                     And I need to take her to the hospital.

Phone starts ringing.

                                         CASSIDY

                                                                   {Forces a smile}

                       Your salary for last month, Is it? 

                                                                   {Tony nods}

                       I will see what I can do.

                                                                   {Goes and picks up the phone}

                                        CASSIDY {cont’d}

                                                                                  {Calmly.}

                      Hello…

                                     MAN OVER PHONE

                    Mr. Cassidy Thompson?
                                    CASSIDY

                    Yes? Who is this?

55 EXT PHONE BOOTH DAY

Nixon has the receiver to his ear…

                                           NIXON                                                                

                    The name is Nixon. 

                    I found your name in the gold and 

                    diamond dealer’s directory. How do we meet? 

                                        CASSIDY OVER PHONE

                  How may I help you, sir?

                                            NIXON

                 I’ve been to your office but it was locked.

                                                                {Looks around to make

                                                                  certain he’s alone}

                 I have a diamond.

CUT TO

NIXON’S RES.

Cassidy sits up straight.                                                      
He glances over his shoulder at Tony. His eyes and Tony’s meet. He lowers his voice…

                                                         CASSIDY
                                         Meet me at Bond hotel, 7pm tonight.

                                         Ask after Terry at the reception.

Replaces receiver and stares vacantly into space.

Tony look on with interest.

56.EXT-CASIDY’S RES---
NIGHT

Cassidy drives in and pulls up in the garage.

CUT

Tony appears at the first floor window and stares out. From his P.O.V, we see Cassidy close the garage and matches towards us. Tony withdraws from window. 

CUT

57 INT STAIRCASE NIGHT

Cassidy climbs up the stairs, diverts right, and pauses by the second door. He inserts a key, opens the door and goes in, closing the door behind him.

Tony emerges from a corner with suspicion on his face. He creeps quietly to the door and peeps in through the keyhole. From his P.O.V…

58 INT ROOM NIGHT

We see Cassidy on a chair, his legs crossed, his reading light on, as he examines the diamond peering through a lens. Satisfied. His lips form a smile.

CUT

Door-

Tony straightens up as he stares thoughtfully into space.

CUT TO

59. CITY SKYLINE   DAY

Helicopter shot of the Los Angeles city skyline. 

SUPER: Los Angeles, USA

DISOLVES TO--

60 EXT STREET DAY

-- To a street to reveal a speed bike, followed by 4 black colored hummer jeeps with Nigerian plate numbers.

 The third jeep has the Nigerian flag mounted on its bumper. 

From within the first jeep, a gate to a building zooms into view. Boldly written on the gate is no 5 Mayford Mayer Street.

 By the first jeep driver’s side laid Nixon’s novel. The driver opens the novel and glances at the address written on it. He speaks into the intercom.

The entire vehicle pulls up.

At the same time, four doors of the four jeeps swing open and the FOUR STERN MEN step out. 

AWA steps out from the third jeep, opens the back seat door and steps aside.

Slowly, feet of someone with animal skin shoes step out. Slowly, camera moves to reveal the owner of the feet. Wearing expensive African attire with a leopard skin across his shoulder is the KING of UMUOCHI KINGDOM.  

 The man from the first jeep points at the no 5 building and they all match towards the building in slow motion.          

61.EXT/INT-NIXON’S RES---DAY                                                                                          

King and his men arrive at the no 5 doorstep. GUARD  # I, steps forward and knocks on the door. Door opens and a man come out, closing the door behind him.

                                                              IGWE

                                                                       {To man.}

                                          Is this Nixon Osborne’s house?

                                                              MAN

                                          Yes, I’m Mr. Osborne. Nixon’s father.

                                                              IGWE

                               I am Igwe Ezeochi 1 of Umuochi kingdom. 

                                           I’d like to speak with your son.

Beat. Man turns quietly and stares vacantly into space. His mood changes to sorrows as he recalls an event.

Beat.

 CUT TO

 62 INT MOGUE DAY

  Shot opens on MORGUE ATTENDANT pulling out a corpse. CAM widens to contain the king, his guards, and Nixon’s father. Lying lifeless on the stretcher, with cotton wool on his nostrils, is Nixon’s corpse. 

                                                                    MAN

                                                His body was found last night in a hotel room.

                                                An unknown person strangled him to death.

                             {Sobbing}

                                                                  IGWE

                                                 He stole a diamond that belongs to the gods in the land 

                                                 where I reign as the king. Did you find any diamond on him?

                                      I will pay 1million dollars to have it back.

Morgue attendant’s mouth drops open.    

                                                                    MAN

                                                  He told us he would spend 

                                      the holiday with his friend in Nigeria.

                                                  But last night, our neighbour who works

                                                  in the hotel where he was killed reported

                                                  his death to us. We went there and found his corpse.

   We did not find any diamond on him.   

                                                 {Sobbing continues.}

                                                                     AWA

                                                                                  {To king.}

                                                 Whoever killed him must have the diamond with him now.

                                                 We have to find it.

They exit leaving man in tears.

CUT TO

63.INT
-CASIDY RES.---DAY                                                                            

A programme on the TV is replaced with the king making a speech.

                                                                 IGWE

                                    Good day, good citizens of this great nation.

                               I am Igwe Ezeochi 1 of Umuochi kingdom, West Africa.. 

I am here on a mission to save

                                                my only child from brutal death. 

  I am desperately looking for a diamond

                                                stolen from a shrine in the land

                                                where I reign as the king.

Cassidy descends quietly from the stairs, eyes fixed on the TV set

                                                               IGWE {cont’d}

                                               This diamond belongs to a python

                                               worshipped by pagans in my land.

 Cassidy takes a seat.

                                               I am prepared to pay 1million dollars

                                               in exchange of this diamond.

  Cassidy curves his mouth in a smile.

                                                 Anyone who wishes to see me

                                                  on this issue should please come

                                                  to New Life Hotel or contact 

                                                  me on any of these mobile lines;

                                                  315-866-6774, 315-866---- 

Cassidy starts jotting down the numbers. He suspends action suddenly and turns to a direction.

                                                             CASIDY

                                                  Tony?   

  There is no response.

                                                          CASIDY {cont’d}

                                                                                      {Louder}

                                               Tony!

No response.

Alarmed. He springs up and hurries upstairs. 

CUT TO 

64 INT CASSIDY’S RES. {ROOM} DAY

Cassidy pauses at the doorway as his eyes wander round the room in astonishment. Drawers are turned upside down. Clothes litter on the floor. Boxes are open with its contents scattered around. The whole room is ransacked inside out.

… Then comes running feet, down below, in the street.

Cassidy rushes to the open window and stares out. From his P.O.V…

65 EXT STREET DAY

We see Tony running down the street. He pauses at the junction, glancing back intermittently as he waits for an on coming car to pass. He then runs across the street and flags down a taxi, which speeds away as he enters. 

Cassidy withdraws from the window in a hurry.

66 EXT CASSIDY’S RES DAY

The ground floor door jerks open. Gun in hand, Cassidy, looking stern matches towards the garage in a slow motion, shoving the shotgun into his leather jack inner pocket. He opens the garage, and then drives out in an alarming speed.

Neighbours look out through their windows.

                                                          Mrs. Jennings 

                                                                                   {Under her breath.}       

                                      Holy Moses! What’s after him?

CUT

Neighbour #2, JIM {30} stares thoughtfully after the disappearing car, then glances over his shoulder, at the TV set…

CUT

67 INT JIM’S APT DAY

The king is on screen still making his speech

                                                     IGWE

                                     Once again, the numbers to contact are: 315-866-6774, 315-866-6775,

                                       315-866-6776, 315-866-6777

Jim withdraws his gaze from the TV set, sticks out his neck through the window and peers thoughtfully into the street.

CUT TO

68 EXT FILLING STATION DAY
From within Cassidy’s car, traffic is seen ahead. 

Cassidy drives into the filling station. 

The station attendant, a very fat man in his late 30’s lay on a bench at a corner. He raises his head as Cassidy pulls up by the station’s entrance.

                                              CASSIDY

                             Hi buddy!

                                            ATTENDANT

                                                       {Nonchalantly}

                              Hi

                                         CASSIDY 

                           My car’s developed some fault,

                           and I’m late for an appointment.

                           What I intend doing is pick up

                          a cab to catch up with my appointment.

                         And then pick up a mechanic to fix it on my way back.

                                          ATTENDANT

                                                                   {Expressionless}

                        Wine up your glasses and lock up.

                       An’t got no time to watch over your goddamn car. 

                       Don’t come asking me questions.

                                                                {Lays back on the bench}

                                        CASSIDY

                                                                 {Getting out of the car}

                       I will take care of it!

                                      ATTENDANT

                       Whatever.

A truck drives into the station. Attendant gets to his feet as he waits for the trucks arrival.

CUT TO

69 EXT TRAFFIC DAY

On three files, cars move slowly behind each other and pause at every little interval.

CUT

Tony sits at the back seat, behind the driver. He twists around in his seat to peer through the back windscreen to make certain he’s not being followed. Satisfied. He curves his mouth in a smile and faces his front…

CUT

Far behind, the truck drives out of the filling station, and makes for the traffic. We follow the progress. Several shots of the truck as it drive slowly towards the traffic.

CUT

Tony twists around again to watch his back. There is no sign of Cassidy. Everything appears ok. He exhales as he re-adjusts himself comfortably in his seat.

CUT

Behind the cab, the truck approaches. CAM tracks along with the truck tires. 

CUT 

Ahead, the traffic light shows “RED” and the whole vehicles come to a standstill.

CUT

The truck pauses behind the cab

CUT

CAM pans under the truck.

Beat.

Feet descend at the back of the truck and move swiftly towards the cab… 

70 INT CAB DAY

Door opens and Cassidy comes in.

                                                   CASSIDY

                                   Hi Tony.

                                                                  {Tony freezes in shock}

                                   My car broke down, down the street.

                                   And I’m late for an appointment.

                                                                 {Cab driver glances over his shoulder, 

                                                                     at Cassidy}

                                   How much is my friend paying you for the trip?

                                                DRIVER

                                   $2

Cassidy brings out a $5 bill and passes it to the driver.

                                             CASSIDY

                               Keep the change.

Cassidy rests the shotgun on the seat with the nozzle pointing at Tony’s thigh. 

                                           DRIVER

                                                                 {Happily}

                           Thank you, sir. 

                           Thank you very much, sir.

Sweat runs Tony’s face.

They drive on in silence.

                                                        VOICE {O.S}

                               Mr Thompson! 

Cassidy jerks up straight on hearing his name.

                                                    VOICE {cont’d}

                             Mr Thompson!

He turns to the direction of the voice…

Next to the cab, is a Morris Minor. Model 1926. The man behind the steering wheels grins widely at Cassidy. He is old and his name is Jones.

                                                   CASSIDY

                                                            {Irritated. But tries to hide it. He forces a smile…}

                             Hello, Mr Jones!

                                                  JONES

                           Haven’t seen you in church of late, Mr Thompson. 

                           Everything aright?


                                                  CASSIDY

                             I’m fine, Mr Jones. I was out of town.

                                                      JONES

                             What’s up with your car?

                                                   CASSIDY

                             It needs attention.

                                                  JONES

                            Maybe you need attention too, Mr Thompson.

                            Looks like you’re over stressed. 

                            It’s written all over you. 

                            Life doesn’t have a duplicate, you know?

                            Give yourself a break, Bro. 

                           Take a break.

                                              CASSIDY

                          Thanks for your concern, Mr Jones.

                                             JONES

                         Aright, Mr Thompson. 

                         See you in church on Sunday. 

                         Have a nice day.

                                          CASSIDY

                                                             {Gives a sigh of relief}

                                  You too, Mr Jones.

On that note, he turns.

Beat.

Tony is no longer in the car. 

Cassidy steps out of the car and looks around but Tony is nowhere to be found.

CUT TO

71.EXT- -NEAR HOTEL---DAY

A motorbike pulls up near the hotel signpost. The rider’s name is Mark {33]. He brings out his cigarette box, selects a stick of cigarette, lights it and sits patiently on top of the bike as he watches every movement at the hotel entrance.

CUT

Cassidy drives pass MARK and diverts into the hotel

CUT

From the opposite direction, the King’s convoy approaches and diverts into the hotel.

CUT

A cab pulls up in front of the hotel. Tony alights, glances up and down the street, then pays the driver and hurries into the hotel glancing back occasionally.

CUT

Right across the road, adjacent the hotel entrance sits Cassidy’s neighbour, JIM. He is dressed as a beggar. There is a plate with some money in front of him. A man approaches, puts some money in the plate and walks off. JIM fakes a smile…nods to man…indicating…THANK YOU…turns coldly…and faces the hotel entrance.

72.EXT-HOTEL PREMISES---DAY

The King and his entourage are seen heading towards the hotel RECEPTION GLASS door in slow motion.

ANGLE RETURNS to accommodate TONY enter the premises. As he sees the King, his face lights up in a wide grin. He increases his pace towards them and pauses suddenly…

Beat.

 A sudden expression of fear jumps into his face. From his POV, angle reveals Cassidy on top of his car bonnet, his cruel fierce eyes fixed on Tony. Turning, TONY breaks into a run towards the exit. Cassidy goes into his car and follows him while the King and his entourage walks into the reception without observing the situation.

73.EXT-NEAR HOTEL—DAY                                                                                                

MARK is still sitting patiently on his bike, smoking and waiting.

TONY runs out and onto the opposite direction.

Cassidy drives out and follows him.

Alarmed, MARK sits up, sparks his bike and follows them slowly.

JIM gets to his feet, folds his mat sharply, and hurries to a corner of a kiosk where he parked a motorbike.

74.EXT-ROAD--DAY

TONY diverts onto a footpath.

Angle returns to accommodate Cassidy pull up. He rushes out of the car and chases after TONY. Far behind them, MARK pulls up. Far behind MARK, JIM pulls up.


75.EXT-STREET/SCHOOL---DAY

TONY runs between houses and onto a street. He glances sharply to the left, then right and sees a school gate at the far end of the street. He runs towards the gate, his breathe whispering harshly from his nostrils.

Behind, Cassidy runs between houses and onto the street. He dodges behind a kiosk as he sights TONY down the street speaking with the school security.

TONY glances back occasionally as he speaks with the security. Security takes a quick glance into the street and lets TONY in, closing the gate hastily behind them. Angle returns to accommodate Cassidy behind the kiosk staring after the gate. Behind Cassidy hides MARK while behind MARK, hides JIM. They all have their eyes fixed at the school gate.

76.EXT-SCHOOL GATE---NIGHT                                                                                         

School gate opens slightly. Security sticks out his head and peers into the darkness. The street is calm and lonely. He opens the gate wider and comes out. Then he padlocks the gate and disappears into the darkness in a hurry.

From a corner emerges MARK, eyes fixed at the disappearing security. He dodges as he hears a sound somewhere in the dark.

77.EXT--SCHOOL PREMISES---
NIGHT

Feet descend from the school fence.

78.INT--SECURITY’S HOUSE---
NIGHT

TONY who lies inside the security’s house jerks up from bed with a start, his eyes blazing with terror as he pauses to listen.

In the dark…

Camera-in motion tracks along with the feet moving toward the security’s house. 

At the doorstep…

The feet arrive and pause. Foot rises up and kicks. Door gives way. Gun in hand, Cassidy steps in and pauses by the doorway. TONY is nowhere to be found. He turns and peers into the darkness, eyes narrowed, quietly, he raises his gun and aims it at a figure, in the dark …

In the dark…

TONY breaks into a run. Gun shot roars. He drops dead. Cassidy steps forward and searches him. He finds the diamond.

CUT TO

79 EXT STREET NIGHT

The convoy pulls up near the school gate. Doors fling open, the guards, the king, three policemen and the school guard alight. They all match towards the school gate

CUT TO

80 INT SCHOOL PREMISES NIGHT

School security, policemen, the king and his entourage walk in. they arrive at the security’s house and meet the door wide open and the room empty. Security turns and peers into the darkness.

                                             SECURITY                                                                                     

                                  Tony! It’s john. Where are you, Tony?

                                  The king is here….

There is dead silence.


           Tony…

His words echo back to him.

                                  Where are you? Tony…

Turns on his electric torch, then flashes the beam of the torch around, lighting up classrooms


           Tony…

In one of the classrooms. A figure jumps through the window and disappears into the darkness


           There…

They all go after the figure. 

One of the men hits his foot on something and pauses as he stares motionlessly down his feet.

King and Security step forward. Security flashes the beam of the torch at man’s feet and freezes as Tony is seen lying lifeless on the floor.

                                                      SECURITY

                                     Oh, my God! Tony

In the dark…

The figure approaches the fence and climbs it. Behind him, Guard # 3, enters shot, pauses and aims his gun at the figure’s unprotected back.

                                                      GUARD #3

                                      Stop!

The figure jumps over to the other side of the fence.

81.EXT-STREET---NIGHT

The figure Cassidy descends from the fence, runs down the street and diverts onto another street. He then slows down and re-adjusts his shirt. Behind him, MARK emerges from the dark, moves swiftly and hits him on the neck with the butt of the gun. Cassidy slumps. MARK then searches him, takes the diamond and his gun and mounts his bike that is parked at a corner and speeds away. Cassidy raises his head and helplessly watch the motorbike disappears into the darkness. He quietly gets to his feet. Turning, he freezes as he sees the king, his men and the policemen standing before him. He lowers his head and weeps bitterly. Raising his head, he wipes his tears with the back of his hand, and then stretches out his hands to the policemen. They handcuff him and take him away. The king just stares into space, dejected.

82.EXT-KING’S PALACE---AFRICA---DAY                                                            

Ezemuo is seen walking into the palace stamping the “OJI” on the ground occasionally. His 4 servants follow behind.

The ground floor door opens. Lolo and adaeze come out. Ezemuo and his men approach.

                                                         LOLO
                                            Igwe is not yet back. 

                                            I forbid you to come anywhere near

                                            the palace until he comes back!

                                            Now leave!

Ezemuo glares murderously at her.

                                             Maids!

20 maids hurry out.

                                                         LOLO

                                         Throw these pagans out of here!

They match toward Ezemuo and his men

                                                           EZEMUO

                                         If you dare come closer, I will invoke the wrath of the gods upon you!

The maids pause.


                Get her!

Adaeze hides behind her mother. The servants snatch her from her mother, carry her and make for the exit.

                                                         ADAEZE

                                      Take your filthy hands off me!  Bastards!

Kicks, punches and curses as they carry her toward the gate. Lolo rushes into the house, returns with a gun and fires a shot in the air. Ezemuo and his men pause.

                                                          LOLO

                                                                            {Coldly}

                                    I swear God; I will kill all of you if you don’t let go my daughter!

                                                                            {Pointing the gun at Ezemuo}

                                                                                                                                                Ezemuo glances over his shoulder at Lolo, and then nods to his men. They proceed towards the exit

                                                       LOLO {cont’d}

                                  Stop!

Ezemuo and his men continue towards the gate…

                                                        LOLO {cont’d}

                                        I say stop!

Ezemuo and his men walk out of the compound.

Lolo breaks down as she cries profusely.

The maids weep bitterly too. 

83.EXT-HOTEL --DAY

Hotel building establishing

  CUT TO 

84 INT HOTEL SUITE DAY

The King paces up and down. Four cell phones lay on the table. Phone rings. The King grabs phone sharply.

                                                           IGWE

                                                                  {Curiously.}

                                              Igwe Ezeochi here!

Pauses to listen, then slumps into a chair

                                                             IGWE

                                            Honey, how are you?

                                                           LOLO OVER PHONE

                   Your Lordship, have you found the diamond?

                                                           IGWE
                                            No. But I will get it.

                                                            LOLO OVER PHONE

                                             Oh, my God.

                                                                   {Amidst sob.}

                                            Ezemuo was here a short while ago.

                                            He has taken our daughter away.

                                            I don’t want my baby to die.  

                                                                          {Cry profusely.}                                                                                      


The King drops the phone and stares vacantly into space, his face suddenly stern.

85.EXT- HOTEL DAY                                                                                   

Helicopter shots of the LOS ANGELES city skyline. CAM zooms to NEW LIFE HOTEL building to reveal the king’s convoy driving out of the hotel premises.

86.EXT-PHONE BOOTH—DAY

MARK steps out of a cab, glances left, then right and matches to the booth. He fishes out a piece of paper from his pocket and begins to dial a number, glancing at the piece of paper intermittently.

87.EXT -ROAD---DAY

The King’s convoy is seen coming towards us.

88 INT THIRD JEEP DAY

The king stares vacantly into space. Phone rings. King ignores it.

 AWA, who sits in the front seat beside the driver turns and picks the phone.

                                                                AWA

                                             Who is this?

                                                               MARK OVER PHONE

I am in possession of the diamond. 

                                                  Does it interest you?

                                                             AWA

                                                                         {Turns to the king.}

                                                 The caller has the diamond, your highness.

                                                              IGWE

                                                                       {Expressionless.}

                                                 I don’t need it any more.

                                                             AWA

                                                                                {To caller.}

                                                 Keep it.

                                                                   {Switches off and replaces phone}

CUT TO

PHONE BOOTH--

MARK just stares at the phone in astonishment. He replaces handset and turning, he sees the convoy drives pass.

                                                               MARK                                                                      

                                                    Bitch!

                                                                {Kicks foot into the air.}

A taxicab is seen approaching. MARK flags it down, enters and the cab pulls away.

89.EXT—ROAD---DAY

Camera tracks along with the cab. Mix to different locations as the cab proceeds. The cab gets to a junction and MARK indicates the driver should turn left. They come into a bush road and MARK point’s ahead. Ahead of them, we see an isolated building that is surrounded by bushes. The cab pulls up in front of the two rooms apartment building. MARK pays the driver, alights and matches towards the building in slow motion. Camera zooms to Mark’s piece of paper lying on the car seat as the cab reverses and pulls away.

MARK approaches the door, inserts a key and opens it.

90.INT--MARK’S HOUSE--DAY

MARK comes into the room. From behind the door, JIM emerges sharply with a hammer in his hand. Before MARK could turn, the hammer descends on his forehead and he drops on the floor.

Just then, a knock sounds on the door.

JIM, hammer firm in hand, hides behind the door, alarmed.

Knock sounds again.


CUT TO EXT

The taxi driver is seen standing at the doorstep with Mark’s piece of paper in his hand.

                                                              DRIVER

                                                Master!

There is dead silence.

Taxi driver moves his hand to door handle.

CUT TO INT

Jim confidently stands behind the door, eyes on door handle, and hammer firm in hand.

CUT TO EXT

Driver withdraws from door, takes few steps to his car, then pauses and returns to door.

                                                              DRIVER

                                                                         {Knocking on the door.}

                                                 Master!

There is silence. Alarmed, driver opens the door slightly and sticks his head into the room and peeps in.

                                                               DRIVER

                                                 Master!

Like lightening, the hammer descends on his head and the driver drops on the floor dead.

JIM comes out of the room, pauses to look around to make certain nobody is watching. Satisfied, he adjusts his clothes and matches towards the place he hides his motorbike in slow motion. Midway to the bike, gunshot roars. JIM pauses abruptly. A dead silence reigns. JIM turns slowly. At his back, blood soaks his shirt. Slowly, he drops on his knees, and glances up. Camera follows his gaze to reveal MARK lying at the doorway with a gun in his hand. 

Smoke ooze out from the nozzle of the gun. Jim drops on his knees, then to the ground, face down. The diamond roll out from his pocket and bounces on the sloppy land into the bush.

Mark drops the gun, gets to his feet and staggers after the diamond.

91 EXT BUSH DAY

Camera tracks along with Mark moving frantically in the bush after the diamond as it bounces down the sloppy hill.  Various shots as Mark staggers frantically after the diamond and finally, he catches it. He then sits under a tree to catch some rest. His breathe whispering harshly from his nostrils.

92.EXT-ISOLATED BUILDING---DAY

Mark emerges at the isolated building. He disappears into the house and reappears with a changed clothes and a briefcase. He put the briefcase in the booth of the cab and then sits behind the steering wheels. He then brings out the diamond, examines it and curves his mouth in a smile. He put the diamond back into his pocket and finds the cab’s ignition. As he makes to start the car….

Beat.

-- Heavy crash…the hammer descends through the cab windscreen onto Mark’s forehead. Blood ooze out as he drops dead. Jim searches Mark’s pockets and takes the diamond. He then walks up to his bike in difficulty, mounts it and disappears into the bush through a path.

93.EXT—FIELD---DAY

Eight girls are seen in a field playing volleyball. On a bench, at a corner near the bush sits Becky {6}. She watches the girls with interest. The ball flies into the bush.

                                                                   LINDA

                                                   Go get the ball, Becky! 

Becky rushes into the bush.

94.EXT—BUSH--- DAY                                                                                                     

In the bush, we see Becky running to get the ball. Suddenly, she pauses. Ahead of her, lay a motorbike. At a corner, Jim lay dead… beside Jim… laid the diamond

95.EXT –FIELD--DAY

The girls come out of the field and wave good bye to each other as they match home in different directions.

96.EXT- –ROAD---DAY

The convoy diverts right. A big sign reads “ AIRPORT 100KM”

97.EXT-- ROAD --- DAY

Rita, Becky’s elder sister holds Becky by the wrist as they match home. They get to a traffic light where there is ZEBRA CROSSING and stop.

--The convoy approaches. The traffic light shows red and the entire vehicle stop.

--Rita and her sister begin to cross the road. Midway, the diamond falls from Becky. She withdraws from Rita and returns to pick it.

--From within the first jeep, the driver and the bodyguard see the diamond. The bodyguard picks the intercom and speaks rapidly into the mouthpiece.

98. EXT ---VILLAGE SKYLINE --- DAY

Helicopter shot of UMUOCHI KINGDOM skyline.

CUT TO

99 SHRINE DAY

Spread-eagled, Adaeze lays on a platform in front of the sculpture of the big python. Drums are heard pounding with a tantalizing slowness of rhythm, emphasizing rather than heckling the electric silence. Adaeze could not see the drummers. She tries to sit up, but could move nothing except her head. Adaeze’s fears intensified when she becomes aware that she is virtually paralyzed. She looks from side to side in confusion. From behind the shrine hut, a woman emerges and dances towards her. Adaeze notes with alarm that her eyes are bulging as they fix themselves at her, almost popping out of their sockets. She is holding out a black cock in front of her, and stands several feet away from Adaeze jigging to the monotonous rhythm of the drums.

100.EXT-VILLAGE ROAD---DAY
The convoy diverts to the rocky road that leads to the village. 

101 INT THIRD JEEP DAY

The King just stares out. The pounding of the drums is heard in the background.

102.EXT-SHRINE---DAY                                                                                                             

The rhythm has quickened and the woman is dancing faster. Her face reveals an expression of startling hatred and menace. She begins to retreat backwards, dancing all the while not removing her eyes from Adaeze. As she nears the hut, she turns suddenly and goes on her knees. The drums cease abruptly. Face down, she holds out the cock in front of her. A fearful stillness reigns. Quietly, Ezemuo steps out of the hut with a grinning skull hanged on his neck. He looks stonily at Adaeze, and then takes the cock from woman and matches towards Adaeze. With nerve-jarring suddenness, the drums come to life.

103.EXT-VILLAGE ROAD--DAY

The convoy pulls up by the bush path that leads to the shrine

104. SHRINE---DAY

A fearful stillness reigns. Ezemuo walks around the platform chanting incantations, pausing intermittently to touch Adaeze on the chest with the cock. Then he turns to the sculpture of the python, touches it’s head repeatedly with the cock as the incantations continue. Turning, he throws the cock to a corner and it dies. Abruptly, the drums come to life. Uprooting a matchet that stands in front of the sculpture, Ezemuo shakes in tempo of the drumbeats. His face reveals an expression of startling hatred and menace. His eyes fixed on Adaeze’s. Adaeze breathes fearfully. Her apprehension is so stifling, she gasps for air.

105.EXT-BUSH--DAY

The king is seen striding along the bush path with his four guards bringing up the rear. 

106.EXT-SHRINE---DAY

Four men rush out from behind the hut toward Adaeze and lift her roughly off the platform by her limbs. She is turned onto her front. A cry of terror escaped her as she is laid down and her limbs stretched out. She struggles and pleads to be released. Ezemuo steps forward with the matchet in his hand… 

                                                              VOICE  {O.S}

                                               Hold it right there!

Ezemuo and his men turn toward the direction of the voice and see IGWE and his guards approaching in slow motion. The FOUR MEN that are holding Adaeze free her and run off. Adaeze runs to her father. He holds her to his chest. 

                                                                      IGWE

                                                   You alright, my Pride?

Adaeze nods, crying softly. 

Quietly, the king raises his head and turns to Ezemuo. He then stretches out his hand to one of the guards .The guard hands him over the diamond. He drops the diamond at Ezemuo’s feet and looks stonily at him with intent, probing eyes. Ezemuo bows his head as he notices the sparkling hatred in the king’s eyes.
                                                        

                                                                    IGWE

But the new moon hasn’t fall yet.

                                                                      EZEMUO
                                                                               {Looks at the king, and confidently.}

                                                    I did nothing wrong. I rendered my services as the 

                                                    shrine priest in respect of our custom and tradition 

                                                    in order to save our people from total doom and 

                                                    untold suffering. Cast the sword on me and

                                                    you shall have the wrath of the gods to face!

The king turns his back on Ezemuo, takes few steps, then pauses, unsheathing his sword, he nods his head lightly.

His guards lift EZEMUO roughly off the ground by his limbs and onto the platform.

EZEMUO

                                                                                 {In great fear}

                                                    What are you doing?

A cry of terror escapes him as he is laid down and his limbs stretched out.

Like lightening, the KING turns and descends his sword few inch from EZEMUO’s shivering skin. 

EZEMUO exhales, his eyes popping out in fear as he watches the king and his entourage walk away.

THE END 




























































































